1986

Willis C. Gabbard v. David A. Beach : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order issued by the Honorable Leonard H. Russon sustaining an order of driver's license suspension issued by respondent.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

By Order dated July 1, 1985, following review of the file and hearing arguments of counsel, the court below ruled that the Order of Suspension issued by respondent under date of March 18, 1985 was supported by substantial and competent evidence and therefor sustained the said order.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the Order of the District Court with instructions on remand to order respondent to reinstate

appellant's driving privileges.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Is an order of suspension of driver's license which pre-dates the driver's license suspension hearing a denial of due process on its face?

2. Where a statute mandates that the standards of the Commissioner of Public Safety be followed in the administration of chemical testing for breath/blood alcohol, is it a foundational requirement to provide evidence that said standards were followed in order to properly admit the results of said test?

3. Is the order of suspension arbitrary and capricious where chemical test results are admitted absent a showing of compliance with the commissioner's standards?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 21, 1985, appellant was arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol (DUI) in violation of Section 41-6-44, Utah Code Ann. The arresting officer served appellant with a notice of intention to suspend his driver's license pursuant to 41-2-19.6. That notice informed the appellant he had ten days to request a hearing before the "department." (Respondent). (Exhibit A).

Appellant timely requested a hearing which was scheduled for March 22, 1985. At the hearing testimony was

taken from Deputies Beam and Dial of the Salt Lake County Sheriff's Office and certain documents were admitted as evidence. (A transcript of the hearing is attached as Exhibit B).

Sometime in early April, 1985, appellant received an Order of Suspension dated March 18, 1985, signed by respondent, notifying him that his driver's license was suspended for 90 days (Exhibit C).

On April 8, 1985 appellant filed a Petition for Hearing in the Third District Court pursuant to 41-2-20, Utah Code Ann., requesting the court to review the decision of respondent and vacate the said order of suspension.

The matter came on for hearing before the Honorable Leonard H. Russon on May 21, 1985. After hearing argument of counsel and reviewing the file, the court issued a Memorandum Decision, same date (Exhibit D). Having failed to rule on appellant's first issue (order pre-dating the hearing), the court issued a supplemental opinion denying appellant's claim.

On July 1, 1985 the Court signed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order from which this appeal lies (Exhibit E).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I of this brief will argue that respondent failed to comply with the statutory requirements of 41-2-19.6 and with

common law and constitutional requirements of due process in issuing its suspension order prior to the hearing on the same matter.

Point II will argue that the respondent's hearing officer admitted chemical breath test results without sufficient foundation and in violation of 41-6-44.3.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING
RESPONDENT'S ORDER OF SUSPENSION WHERE
APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS WAS
PRIMA FACIE VIOLATED

Article I, Section 12 of the Constitution of Utah, The Fifth Admendment to the United States Constitution and multitudes of cases interpreting the same leave no doubt that persons involved in the administrative process are entitled to the due process of law prior to any deprivation of life, liberty or property. "Property" and "liberty" have been extended to include "privileges." (Cf 42 U.S.C. 1983 and the abundant case law defining the scope of due process under that act).

Furthermore, where certain rights, obligations or expectations are set forth in statutes, ordinances, rules, policies and the like, persons who's conduct is regulated thereby can achieve a property right status or an expectation akin to contract in reliance thereon. The U.S. Supreme Court

has gone so far as to hold that where a state grants written procedural rights to convicts which aren't even constitutionally required, that state is bound by it's own written rules and must afford those rights it has created. (Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539 (1974)).

In 41-2-19.6 the State of Utah legislated that when police officers make DUI arrests they seize the arrestees driver's license, serve him notice of the State's intent to suspend his license after 31 days unless he requests a hearing to oppose the said suspension and if said hearing is requested, he is afforded a right to said hearing. All these things were done in the instant case.

The salient issue deals with 41-2-19.6(5). "After the hearing, the department shall order (suspension or no suspension)." (Emphasis added). This section presumes that a fair and impartial hearing will determine the efficacy of the arresting officer's "interim" suspension based upon competent and substantial evidence. The burden of proof which the state is required to meet in driver's license hearings concerning DUI suspensions and revocations is a "preponderance of evidence." Murray v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1983).

In this case the hearing to determine whether or not to suspend was held four days after the Order of Suspension was dated.

The respondent will argue the need to have the order ready "just in case" is a computerized bureaucratic necessity to efficiently manage the driver's license system. Appellant presumes that this court would take a dim view of criminal trial judges preparing, signing and issuing judgments and verdicts of guilt before the trial of the accused actually occurs.

The action of the respondent shows a predisposition to place the burden of proof on the appellant. The order in this case was issued prior to the statutorily mandated 31-day period expired and must therefor be considered void ab initio by this court.

POINT II: THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING
RESPONDENT'S ORDER OF SUSPENSION WHERE
SAID ORDER WAS BASED ON INADMISSABLE
EVIDENCE

It is the policy of the driver's license hearing officers, except in rare circumstances, to avoid suspensions of license absent a valid, admissible breath test. Respondent will not argue with that assertion. Therefore, the breath test results in this case are critical.

It is statutorily mandated at 41-6-44.3(1), Utah Code Ann., that the Commissioner of Public Safety establish standards for breath testing by police officers. Those standards are public record in the State Archives.

It is also statutorily required that before documents purporting to prove breath test results may be admitted in evidence, the proponent must provide the foundation that the "analysis was made and the instrument used was accurate, according to standards established in (41-6-44.3(1))..." The judge may find the results trustworthy only if subsection (2) is satisfied (emphasis added).

Ergo, the proponent must introduce the written standards and provide evidence that those standards were complied with in the analysis stage and in the interpretation stage.

In this case the appellant not only objected to the admission of the breath testing documents because respondent failed to offer the commissioner's standards and could not therefore provide sufficient foundation, (Exhibit B, pages 11 and 12); appellant asked the police officer on cross-examination if he was familiar with those standards and he replied that he had never seen them (Exhibit B, page 9).

Since the hearing officer did not have the standards before him as an exhibit and his witness could not provide the foundational testimony, the admission of the testing documents was totally without foundation and the decision based thereon was arbitrary and capricious and should not have been sustained by the court.

The respondent will claim that the hearing officer found that all "procedures and requirements" were met. Who's requirements? Respondent cannot point to a single part of the record that shows compliance with the "commissioner's standards". It is not the officer's standards, the department's standards or the policeman's standards that are material or statutorily sufficient.

This must be reversed and remanded and the order of suspension must be vacated.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth in appellant's arguments, both on statutory as well as constitutional grounds, the court should reverse the decision of the court below and remand this matter with instruction to vacate the Order of Suspension issued by respondent herein.

RESPECTUFLY SUBMITTED this 23 day of August, 1985.




LONI F. DeLAND
McRAE & DeLAND
Attorneys for Appellant
132 South 600 East
Salt Lake City, Utah 84102
(801) 364-1333

MAILED, postage prepaid, four copies of the foregoing
Appellant's Brief to Bruce Hale, Assistant Attorney General,
236 State Capitol, Salt Lake City, Utah 84114 this 23 day
of August, 1985.


LONI F. DeLAND

A D D E N D U M

SUMMONS AND CITATION		ENFORCEMENT AGENCY EXHIBIT A		NO 13782		37472	
STATE OF UTAH COUNTY OF <u>Salt Lake</u>		NAME (Last) <u>Grisman</u> (First) <u>Willis</u> (Middle) <u>C.</u>				DOB <u>7-9-39</u>	
CITY OF _____		ADDRESS <u>4707 S 300W</u> (City) <u>S.L.C.</u> (State) <u>UT</u>				Zip <u>84107</u>	
THE DEFENDANT IS HEREBY GIVEN NOTICE TO APPEAR IN COURT OF <u>DUI</u>		Driver License No <u>3842817</u>		License Class <u>E</u>		Expires <u>1988</u>	
LOCATED AT <u>3839 S W. Temple St</u> <u>In March 6, 1985 0830</u>		Height <u>5'11</u>		Weight <u>175</u>		Eyes <u>Blue</u>	
		Sex <u>M</u>		Vehicle License No <u>WPP424</u>		State <u>UT</u>	
		Vehicle Make <u>Chev</u>		Vehicle Type <u>Corvette</u>		Vehicle Year <u>1985</u>	
		Color <u>Blk</u>		Accident Yes <u>No</u>		Direction of Travel <u>N S E W</u>	
of less than (5) nor more than (14) fourteen days after issuance of this citation		THE ABOVE NAMED DEFENDANT IS CHARGED WITH VIOLATING <input checked="" type="checkbox"/> UTAH CODE <input type="checkbox"/> COUNTY CODE <input type="checkbox"/> CITY CODE NO ON THE <u>21</u> DAY OF <u>Feb</u> 19 <u>85</u> MILITARY TIME <u>2325</u> LOCATION <u>4707 S. State St.</u> MILE POST NO _____ VIOLATION(S) <u>DUI</u>					
		WITHOUT ADMITTING GUILT I PROMISE TO APPEAR AS DIRECTED HEREIN