1986

Willis C. Gabbard v. David A. Beach : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A computerized notice of suspension was not prejudicial to the petitioner's case where it was admittedly printed prior to the required hearing but actually mailed over two weeks after the hearing. The trial court properly found that the generating of the notice was purely ministerial and did not affect the hearing examiner's decision.

The intoxilyzer results were supported by substantial and competent evidence and the machine was tested in compliance with the Commissioner's requirements and working properly. The machine showed that it was working reliably. Even if there had been some error in the foundation, scientific test results are not requisite to finding a violation of the criminal statute or a license suspension under the civil statute.

Since no substantial or even prejudicial error has been committed and the appellant received an opportunity for a fair hearing the trial court should be upheld. The decision of the hearing officer and the findings of the District Court, that the Departmental decision was not arbitrary or capricious should be upheld by this Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PETITIONER WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY SUSPENSION
LETTER GENERATED PRIOR TO HIS HEARING.

As the suspension letter indicates, the Order of Suspension sent to Mr. Gabbard was computer generated on March 18, 1985. As is indicated by the certificate of mailing, however, the letter was not sent until April 4, 1985; that is, it was not decided and mailed until almost two weeks after Mr. Gabbard's hearing. The fact that the letter was printed in the central office prior to the hearing is of no prejudicial consequence. (The statute requires Departmental notice on the 31st day after arrest and notice of intent to suspend, even if only 15 to 20% of the drivers request hearings). The suspension did not become effective on March 18, 1985. Suspension did not become effective until March 24, 1985, 30 days after Mr. Gabbard's arrest, as is required by Section 41-2-19.6 and as was stated in the letter. The decision to use the computerized generated letter was not made until after the hearing.

Furthermore, there is no evidence that Mr. Gabbard was prejudiced in any way by the ministerial function of preparing the suspension order prior to the hearing. The practice of preparing a notice of suspension is merely done because of time constraints. There is no evidence to indicate that the notice is even in the hearing examiners file prior to or during the hearing. Consequently, the hearing officer is not biased in making his determinations which were based solely on the testimony and the documents.

Another fact showing no prejudice is that the driver was in possession of the driver's permit from the time of his arrest until after the mailing of the suspension order. Had the hearing examiner decided for the driver as is done in many cases, the suspension order would not have been mailed, with no adverse effect upon the drivers license records. (District Courts Memorandum).

Even, if the suspension order were effective and even entered in the computer as of the day generated, the result would be the equivalent to providing drivers with a post suspension hearing. In some states, this is customarily the practice and it has been found to be constitutional. Mackey v. Montrym, 443 U.S. 1, 99 S.Ct. 2612 (1979). In Mackey, the court stated that the governmental interest in removing drunk drivers from the road expeditiously warranted finding the pre-suspension hearing unnecessary. See also id. at U.S. 19 and S.Ct. 2621.

In light of the fact that the preparation of the suspension order after notice of intent to suspend did not have any actual adverse effects upon the appellant, where his driving privilege remained in tact until two weeks after the hearing, and the unbiased hearing examiner took evidence and made the decision, the appellant was not prejudiced at all and the District Court's findings of non-arbitrariness should be upheld.

POINT II

INTOXILYZER AFFIDAVITS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED,
THOUGH UNNECESSARY.

The Hearing Examiner and the District Court were not arbitrary or capricious in their common decision where they

followed the dictates of Utah's DUI law. In pertinent part, Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44.3 as amended 1983 states:

41-6-44.3. Standards for chemical breath analysis - Evidence.

(1) The commissioner of public safety shall establish standards for the administration and interpretation of chemical analysis of a person's breath including standards of training.

(2) In any action or proceeding in which it is material to prove that a person was driving or in actual physical control of a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or driving with a blood alcohol content statutorily prohibited, documents offered as memoranda or records of acts, conditions or events to prove that the analysis was made and the instrument used was accurate, according to standards established in subsection (1) shall be admissible if:

(a) The judge finds that they were made in the regular course of the investigation at or about the time of the act, condition or event; and

(b) The source of information from which made and the method and circumstances of their preparation were such as to indicate their trustworthiness.

(3) If the judge finds that the standards established under subsection (1) and the conditions of subsection (2) have been met, there is a presumption that the test results are valid and further foundation for introduction of the evidence is unnecessary.

The appellant assumes that this statute is the only and exclusive method of admitting test results. Such is not the intent of the Legislature in the wording of the statute and the Legislature clearly also provided in the subsequent statute, U.C.A. § 41-6-44.5 that presumptions could be made by courts and certainly by hearing examiners who were not bound by the formal rules of evidence, (Sandy State Bank, infra), if the chemical test was taken within a specified two-hour period of time. But the Legislature also provided that those presumption provisions

were up to "the trier of fact" to determine what "weight shall be given to the result of the test." (Subsection 3). The Legislature also clearly stated in subsection 4 that the "foregoing provisions of this section shall not prevent a court from receiving otherwise admissible evidence as to the defendants's blood alcohol level at the time of the alleged driving or actual physical control." (U.C.A. § 41-6-44.5(4)) If courts in criminal trials are not precluded from receiving from otherwise admissible evidence or allowing jurors to determine the weight to be given to chemical tests given after two-hour periods of time, surely a hearing examiner who is trained in a specific area may determine the weight and admissibility of test results testified to by a peace officer certified and trained by the Department of Public Safety.

In the case at bar, affidavits of technician Stan Jensen state that the intoxilyzer used was tested "in accordance with standards established by the commissioner of public safety" the tests that were performed showed that the instrument was working properly. One such intoxilyzer check occurred prior to the arrest, and the other test subsequent thereto.

The testimony indicates that nine items were done and checked on the Operational Checklist. This would indicate that the intoxilyzer machine was operated in accordance with the nine requirements set forth on the Operational Checklist. There was no direct testimony as to whether or not this checklist complies with standards set forth by the Commissioner of Public Safety, there is uncontroverted testimony, by the operator of the machine

to the effect that it was working properly without problem at the time of testing.

The certified Deputy Dial testified that in performing the intoxilyzer test, he followed the prescribed nine steps and had no problems with the machine. The test results indicated .14% blood/alcohol. (T-10).

In the "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order" submitted by Judge Russon, he specifically found that where the arresting officer had testified to his DUI Report form, was certified to administer the breath test, used a checklist and had no problems with the machine, it was proper to presume that the intoxilyzer was reliable and in working order and no further foundation was required. Memorandum Decision R.30 and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law R.56 paragraph 3.

However, even if the foundation would have been found inadequate, it would not be fatal to the action lying against the petitioner. "Test results" are not requisite to finding a violation of U.C.A. § 41-6-44. The relevant statute on administrative restriction of driving privileges and submission to chemical tests, U.C.A. § 41-2-19.6(1), states that "when a peace officer has reasonable grounds to believe that a person may be violating or has violated section 41-6-44 the peace officer may" request a chemical test. It is not mandatory that the police officer use the chemical test and there may be cases where a chemical test, especially in intoxilyzer breath tests, would not be obtained. For example, in the situation where drugs might be involved. Such is the indication and intent of the

Legislature even under the criminal statute referred to in the civil statute. U.C.A. § 41-6-44(1) provides not only that it is unlawful to drive with a blood alcohol content above the statutory level or to be "under the influence of alcohol or any drug or the combined influence of alcohol and any drug to a degree which renders the person incapable of safely driving a vehicle." A blood or breath test is not required by either statute. This fact is clear in reading the relevant code sections. For example, Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-19.6(4) states:

The peace officer serving notice shall send...
a sworn report indicating the chemical results,
if any. (emphasis added).

Furthermore, Utah Code Ann. § 41-2-19.6 in pertinent part reads:

(3) If the person submits to that chemical test and the results indicate a blood alcohol content of .08% or more, or if the officer makes a determination, based on reasonable grounds to believe that the determination is correct, that the person is otherwise in violation of section 41-6-44... .

By reading these statutes it is clear that requiring chemical "test results" in all circumstances would be contrary to legislative intent of quickly removing drivers who are safety hazards from the roads.

41-2-19.5. Purpose of revocation or suspension for driving under the influence.

The legislature finds and declares that a primary purpose of the provision in this code that relate to suspension or revocation of a person's license or privilege to operate a motor vehicle for driving with a blood alcohol content above a certain level or while under the influence of alcohol or any drug, or combination of alcohol and any drug, or for refusing to take a chemical test provided for in section 41-6-44.10, is

safely protecting persons on roads and highways by quickly removing from those roads and highways persons who have shown they are safety hazards by driving with a blood alcohol content above a certain level or while under the influence of alcohol or any drug or combination of alcohol and any drug or by refusing to take a chemical test that complies with the requirements of section 41-6-44.10. (emphasis added).

In light of the foregoing, the issue now becomes one of whether the District Court was reasonable in upholding the Hearing Officer.

First, both proceedings had substantial evidence upon which to base their decision. There was "reasonable grounds to believe" from the arresting officer's testimony of the petitioner's wreckless driving pattern coupled with the smell of alcohol, admissions to drinking and inability of petitioner to pass two field sobriety tests, besides the scientific test.

Second, the breath test results were not lacking in foundation. The checklist was complied with and the officer, who was certified by the Department of Public Safety he testified the machine was working properly and he used the check lists and the "Baker Rule". (T-9-10). The fact that the officer was certified by the Department, infers that the design of the machine was specifically approved by the commissioner, and the results of the test should be admissible. Higginbotham v. State, 316 S.E.2d 181 (Ga.App. 1984).

In summary, the standard procedures for a reliable intoxilyzer test were complied with. Though the Department's published rules and regulations were not introduced, such is not called for in non-technical civil cases administering a regulated

privilege. The "administrative hearer" can presume that a trained officer certified by the Department who complied with its requirements, as did the officer in the present case, obtained an admissible test result.

This being the facts, it is clear that neither the Hearing Officer nor the District Court were arbitrary or capricious as their findings were based on evidence of substance "whatever" and falls within the limits of reasonableness or rationality." Utah Department of Administrative Services v. P.S.C., 658 P.2d 601, 609-610 (Utah 1983).

POINT III

THE INTOXILYZER TEST AFFIDAVITS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED.

The intoxilyzer test affidavits were properly admitted for two reasons. First, the documents would even be admissible in a criminal trial. Second, even if the documents would not be admissible in a criminal trial, their inherent trustworthiness permits their consideration in civil trials and the administrative proceeding where there is a different burden of proof and less chance of error or prejudice than with a jury.

First, the intoxilyzer affidavits themselves evidence trustworthiness. They are official Departmental records. The Department receives such affidavits through the regular and ordinary course of business. The affidavits are regular on their faces. They have each been signed twice by a trained trooper with a duty to assure their accuracy. Each time, the trooper signed once under the words "breath test technician(s)," indicating that he had met the requirements of a breath test

technician. The trooper also signed under the statement: "I/we, on oath, state that the foregoing is true." This oath increases the reliability of the affidavits, as does the fact that the signatures were notarized.

All the above indicates that the intoxilyzer affidavits are trustworthy and are a properly admissible business entry or official record, and received by the Department as they would be in a criminal trial. These indicia of trustworthiness show that the evidentiary requirements for admissibility imposed by Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1983) and Section 41-6-44.5 and 44.3 have been met.

The affidavits as well as the sworn "DUI Report Form" are also acceptable hearsay business entries admissible under Rule 803(6) of the formal Utah Rules of Evidence and accepted hearsay Public Reports and Records in a civil proceeding with no indication of untrustworthiness under Rule 803(8). See Barney v. Cox, 588 p.2d 696 (Utah 1978), also Yacht Club v. Liquor Commission, 681 P.2d 1227 (1984). Even the if the above were not true, which it is, this Court has held under Rule 103 of the Utah Rules of Evidence that the erroneous exclusion or admission of evidence must effect the substantial right of a party and be prejudicial to warrant a reversal. Downey State Bank v. Major-Blakeney Corp., 578 P.2d 1286 (Utah 1978), and Bambrough v. Bethers, 552 P.2d 1286 (Utah 1976). The Court has also indicated that rulings on evidence in bench trials are not as critical as in jury trials. The Court assumes that a trial judge has and will use its superior knowledge as to the competency and effect

with which it should give evidence. Superior Tire Marketing Inc. v. Rollins, 18 Utah 2d 122, 417 P.2d 132 (1966). The same logic is true of administrative hearing examiners.

At least one court has held that in an action to recover property damage and personal injury as a result of a automobile accident, it was not error for the trial court to admit the results of an intoximeter test, although it was unclear whether the officer who administered the test was certified since another officer who was certified was present and witnessed the proceedings and also because this was sufficient in a civil trial to warrant the admission of the evidence. Watson v. Frierson, 613 S.W.2d 824 (Ark. 1981). The admission of the evidence is within the discretion of the trial court even in criminal cases and administrative fact finder. State v. Davis, 469 N.E.2d 83 (Ohio 1983), Minnesota has held in a similar case that even though the defendant objected to the introduction of a blood sample without evidence of the competency of the blood test administerer, the blood sample report comports with the statutory requirements and no additional evidence is required to establish the competence of the administrator. Glick v. Commissioner of Public Safety, 362 N.W.2d 15 (Minnesota 1985). Higginbotham v. State, 316 S.E.2d 181 (Ga.App. 1984). Huff v. State, 242 S.E.2d 361 (Georgia 1978). Oller v. State, 469 N.E.2d 1227 (Ind. App. Ct. 1984).

However, even if the intoxilyzer affidavits would not be admissible in a criminal trial, their admission into evidence in the administrative proceeding was still proper. It has long

been recognized that the formal rules of evidence "do not" strictly apply to administrative hearings like the one at issue here. Sandy State Bank v. Brimhall, 636 P.2d 481 (Utah 1981). Because the strict rules of evidence do not apply, the agency need not meet the formal foundational requirements of evidence to be presented in a criminal case such as Murray City v. Hall, *id.*, but may use common sense and reasonableness.

Murray City v. Hall, *id.*, and corresponding Section 41-6-44.3, as cited by the petitioner, relate only to criminal trials. That is, Murray City v. Hall, *id.*, is a criminal DUI case. In that case, this Court discusses the requirements of Section 41-6-44.3. This statute uses, exclusively, the term "judge" rather than, for instance, "agency" or "hearing officer", thus making it, obviously not exclusively applicable to administrative proceedings. Because Murray City v. Hall and Section 41-6-44.3 relate only to criminal proceedings, they serve mainly as "guideline precedent" for the requirements of this civil, administrative pre-suspension hearing.

As discussed above, the intoxilyzer affidavits had every reasonable indication of trustworthiness, and no contrary indications. They are regular on their faces. They have been signed twice by a trooper--once as a "breath test technician" and once under an oath. The documents are also notarized. Because the strict rules of evidence do not apply to administrative proceedings, such as the one at issue here, and because the intoxilyzer affidavits evidence trustworthiness, they were properly considered and given some weight by the Department.

As the North Carolina said in State v. Smith, 323 S.E.2d 316 (N.C. Sup. Ct. 1985), the exception to the hearsay rule not only does not violate the accused right to confrontation, but the documents presented provide recorded facts that are proved to be reliable as easily by the document itself as by live testimony. It is significant that in today's scientific the science of breath analyses for alcohol concentration and the machines used are increasingly less dependent on human skill of operation that require no opinion testimony with a very little chance of human error.

The exception to the hearsay rule governing public records and reports has been invoked consistently by courts as the basis for admitting into evidence certificates concerning qualifications of the individual calibrating the breathalyzer instrument: calibration, maintenance, inspection, and testing the sample: testing ampules and simulator solutions used in such instruments, including the fact that they contained properly compounded materials; and the results of analysis. See e.g., State v. Huggins, 659 P.2d 613 (Alaska App.1982); (relying on Wester v. State, 528 P.2d 1179 (Alaska 1974), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 836 96 S.Ct. 60, 46 L.Ed.2d 54 (1975); Best v. State, 328 A.2d 141 (Del.1974); Douglas v. State, 145 Ga.App.42, 243 S.E.2d 298 (1978); People v. Black, 84 Ill. App.3d 1050, 40 Ill.Dec.322, 406 N.E.2d 23 (1980); State v. Jensen, 351 N.W.2d 29 (Minn.App.1984); State v. Becker, 429 S.W.2d 290 (Mo.App.1968); State v. Conners, 129 N.J.Super. 476, 324 A.2d 85 (1974); People v. Freeland, 118 Misc.2d 486, 460 N.Y.S.2d 907 (1983); State v. Walker, 53 Ohio St.2d 192, 374 N.E.2d 132 (1978); Brown v. State, 584 P.2d 231 (Okla.1978); State v. Smith, 66 Or.App. 703, 675 P.2d 510 (1984); Commonwealth v. Sweet, 232 Pa.Super. 372, 335 A.2d 420 (1975); State v. Robbins, 512 S.W.2d 265 (Tenn.1974); Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1983). Cf., N.C.G.S. § 20-139,1(b4) (Interim Supp.1984).

In each of the above cases a court was presented with the accused's argument that he was entitled to confront and cross-examine the individual responsible for preparing the document in question. In each case, the court found, explicitly or implicitly, that the document was not primarily testimonial but rather was merely the recordation of a fact as easily and as reliably proved by the document itself as by live testimony. Furthermore, the information contained in the document was of a type which by its mere recordation in the ordinary course of business, would be sufficiently reliable to be accepted as trustworthy evidence.

We recognize that each of these cases rests on its own facts, each contrues statutes and rules of evidence which differ from those of North Carolina, and each involves a breathalyzer procedure unique to the particular equipment used. From these cases, however, emerges one significant fact: the science of breath analysis for alcohol concentration has become increasingly reliable, increasingly less dependent on human skill of operation and increasingly accepted as a means for measuring blood alcohol concentration...

In the present case, N.C.G.S. § 20-139.1(e1) permits the chemical analyst to attest by affidavit to certain objective facts which he or she has a statutory duty to record after complying with certain procedures and guidelines adopted by the Commission for Health Services. The analyst is at no time called upon to render an opinion or to draw conclusions... . The analyst is required at the time of testing to record the alcohol concentration as indicated by the machine, the time of collection, the type of analysis performed, they type and status of his permit, and the date of the most recent preventive maintenance. N.C.G.S. § 20-139.1(e1)(1)-(5). The resulting information is precisely the sort of evidence that the traditional business and public records exceptions to the hearsay rule intended to make admissible... (emphasis added) State v. Smith, supra.

For the same reasons, this court should affirm the admission of the intoxilyzer machine test affidavits, as well as

the sworn DUI Report Form. But, even without the affidavits, the suspension decision should be upheld. The testimony at the hearing was, Mr. Gabbard admitted that he had been drinking (T. at 6). His hazardous and erratic driving pattern, as well as the smell of alcohol about his person and his unsatisfactory performance on the field sobriety tests (T. at 5, 6), all indicated that the petitioner was under the influence. The intoxilyzer test results and supporting test affidavits only confirmed and corroborate this fact.

POINT IV

THE LOWER COURT SHOULD BE UPHELD UNLESS A
SHOWING OF PREJUDICIAL ERROR IS MADE.

This case raises the issue of whether error was committed by the early preparation of a suspension order, among other things. Even if the early preparation of the order was an error, at most it would be a "harmless error". The fact that the error (if considered to be error) is harmless can be readily recognized from the facts.

Mr. Gabbard was at no point prior to the hearing deprived of his driving privilege. He was not even aware of the order. It must also be assumed that the hearing examiner based his findings solely on the facts. As much was concluded by the Honorable Judge Russon in a written statement he made in connection with his "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order" paragraph 1 in this case. (R-53). In the case of Joseph v. W.H. Groves Latter-Day Saints Hosp., 10 Utah 2d 94, 348 P.2d 935 (1960), the Supreme Court of Utah stated:

When parties have been afforded an opportunity

to present their claims to a court or jury in a fair trial and a verdict and judgment is entered, all presumptions are in favor of the validity of the verdict and judgment.

Along with the presumption that the verdict is valid, the same court has also required that the parties attacking the verdict must show that the error is substantial and prejudicial to the point that a reasonable likelihood exists that a different result would have occurred in the absence of the error. Hall v. Blackham, 18 Utah 2d 164, 417 P.2d 664 (1966).

If the error (if any) cannot be found to be so substantial as to effect the rights of the parties, the Supreme Court of Utah has repeatedly chosen to disregard the error. See Kesler v. Rogers, 542 P.2d 354 (Utah 1975), Redevelopment Agency v. Mitsui Inv. Inc., 522 P.2d 1370 (Utah 1974), Hillyard v. Utah By-Products Co., 1 Utah 2d 143, 263 P.2d 287.

Finally, the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 61 states:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties. (emphasis added)

The presumption of validity by a preponderance must lie in favor of the Hearing Examiner, and the appellant has failed to meet his burden of showing that the findings of the court below was unreasonable or did violence to the facts. Gassman v. Dorius, 543 P.2d 197 (Utah 1975).